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Mr Howard Smith
Exeter City Council
Local Plans Team: City Development
Civic Centre Paris Street
Exeter
Devon
EX1 1JN

Our ref: DC/2022/122754/01-L01
Your ref: 22/1145/FUL
 
Date:  27 September 2022

Dear Mr Smith
 
COMPREHENSIVE REDEVELOPMENT TO DELIVER A NEW , MIXED USE
NEIGHBOURHOOD, COMPRISING DEMOLITION OF EXISTING BUILDINGS AND
CONSTRUCTION OF FOUR RESIDENTIAL-LED MIXED-USE BUILDINGS OF 2 TO 6
STOREYS, INCLUDING RETAIL, CAFÉ/RESTAURANT AND FLEXIBLE
COMMERCIAL UNITS (CLASS E), RESIDENTIAL (CLASS C3) AND CO-LIVING (SUI
GENERIS) ACCOMMODATION, PEDESTRIAN SQUARE AND PUBLIC REALM,
AMENITY AREAS, LANDSCAPING, ACCESS, PARKING, SERVICING AND
ASSOCIATED W ORKS.   
HAVEN BANKS W ATER LANE EXETER DEVON EX2 8BY      
 
Thank you for consulting us on the above planning application.  
 
Environment Agency position
W e object to this proposal on grounds that insufficient information has been provided
within the submitted Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) to demonstrate that the proposed
development can pass the second part of the flood risk Exception Test.  In particular,
we are concerned that the proposed Commercial Floor Levels are unsafe and that a
safe access/egress route has not been provided.  It is therefore contrary to the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) paragraphs 164 and 167.  W e recommend that the
application is not determined until a satisfactory FRA has been submitted which
demonstrates that the development will be safe from flooding over its lifetime, not
increase flood risk elsewhere and, where possible, reduce risk overall.  
 
Furthermore, before determining the application your Authority will need to be content
that the flood risk Sequential Test has been satisfied in accordance with the NPPF if
you have not done so already and consult with your Emergency Planners in respect of
the emergency evacuation.  As you will be aware, failure of the Sequential Test or either
part of the Exception Test is sufficient justification to refuse a planning application. 
 
The reason for this position is set out below.  

http://www.gov.uk/environment-agency
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Reasons – Flood Risk
The application site, including the access route to the site, lies within Flood Zone 3
defined by the Environment Agency Flood Map as having a high probability of flooding. 
Paragraph 167, footnote 55 of the NPPF requires the submission of a site-specific FRA
when development is proposed in such locations.  W e have reviewed the FRA and
other information that supports this application and consider that this is not acceptable
to demonstrate that the proposal can satisfy the second part of the Exception Test.  Our
detailed concerns with the proposals are set out below.  
 
Sequential Test
W ith regard to the applicant’s Sequential Test, we highlight that the flood risk for Land
adj. St David’s Station (site 3) is within Flood Zone 3a.  It has the exact same flood risk
at this proposed site (not a higher risk as stated).  Further analysis for the flood risk
modelling should be carried out if the applicant wishes to challenge this. 
 
Furthermore, site 4 (Exmouth Junction) is not located within flood zone 2 as stated.  The
site is Flood Zone 1, but has Risk of Flooding from Surface W ater.
 
You should consider these points when determining whether the proposal has satisfied
the Sequential Test.  
 
Safe Access and Egress
The suggested access and egress route is at Extreme Flood Hazard (Risk to Life) and
is therefore considered unsafe.  Although Safe Refuge is mentioned as an alternative to
a safe access and egress route, the FRA does not discuss the duration of the flooding,
the possible damage to local services/utilities and the time it will take until the situation
is ‘normalised’.  W e advise that this is likely to well over 12 hours, perhaps as long as
24 hours.  It is very likely that there will be no electricity, water or sewerage during this
period.  These factors will affect the suitability of safe refuge and must also be
discussed/approved by the LPA.
 
The proposed route northwards over the River Exe is unfeasible, because it would have
to go over the flood defence and through flood waters.  This would be very unsafe (Risk
to Life) once flood levels breach out of the ‘normal’ river channel and affect the
footpaths (still on the wet side of the defences).  Children and people with mobility
problems would not be able to traverse this route once the flood gates are locked (which
would be many hours before flooding starts).
 
W e have advised the applicant (and other developers/Councils) that the only solution in
this area of Exeter is to be part of a wider Strategic solution to the provide a Safe
Access and Egress route toward the South East (the closest safe high ground).  An old
railway embankment has been identified as a possible solution to serve many
development opportunities in the Haven Banks, W ater Lane, Alphington Road and
Marsh Barton Area.  This site would need to access that route, via a new pedestrian
bridge over the live railway line.
 
Minimum Floor Levels
Residential:  Using the 2011 Flood modelling - The average site level, quoted as
7.5MAOD plus the average design flood depth (0.7m) gives us a Design Flood level of
8.2mAOD.  A 0.3m freeboard is required to set the minimum finished floor level (FFL) of
8.5mAOD for Residential Development (defined as ‘more vulnerable’).  This min FFL of
8.5mAOD appears to be what is proposed, but these proposed floor levels are not
shown on the site sections or floor block plans.  The site layout ground floor plan
drawing HREXE-PW A-00-00-DR-A0050 Rev G1 does show some proposed site and
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floor levels, but not enough to allow proper assessment/confirmation of this minimum
level across the whole development.
 
The applicant has not provided details on how flood waters will flow under the buildings,
to offset any loss of flood storage.  These details should be provided including details of
future maintenance.
 
Commercial:  The application has chosen to set commercial (defined as ‘less
vulnerable’) uses at or very close to the existing site floor levels (existing is 7.9mAOD). 
Section 8.5 & 9.4 of the FRA states that the FFLs for the commercial units will be
provided up to 7.95mAOD, or 50mm (0.05m) above the current FFL.  However, the FFL
shown on the plans (The Site layout ground floor plan drawing HREXE-PW A-00-00-DR-
A0050 Rev G1) shows levels at 7.6m (Block A), 7.7m (Block B & D), and 7.8 (Block C)
all below the existing site FFLs.  This is unacceptable and must be changed.
 
The FRA and other planning documents state the reason to not raise any further than
proposed is partially for mobility access reasons.  W e do not accept that the ground
floor level of commercial units can only be built 50mm above the current levels.  Given
the very large site area, the lack of space to provide ramps for the mobility impaired is a
very weak argument.  Given the significant flood risks (and development is proposed
0.9m below the recommended levels) we wish to see written confirmation from your
Authority that you will not accept ramps and/or raised floor levels/ridge heights in this
location.  W e are happy to participate in a joint meeting to discuss this issue and agree
what levels would be acceptable.  
 
Planning statement
Section 6.165 of the planning statement states that we support the scheme, this
incorrect.  Through our pre application service, our last correspondence informed the
applicant of our concerns and issues that need to be resolved before submitting the
planning application.
 
Since Jan 2022 we have informed that applicant of our numerous concerns that needed
to be fully resolved before we would not object to any subsequent planning application. 
Our correspondence in May, June and July 22 (before submission) and August 22 (after
submission) again expressed our concerns with significant elements on the FRA and
principles of the scheme.  W e recommended that the FRA and designs should be
revised before submitting an application and that conversations with the LPA, Applicant
and us may be the best way to overcome some of the concerns, including the provision
of an appropriate access route and agreeing appropriate finished floor levels.
 
New Flood modelling (2022) and NPPG guidance
The application was registered on the 1 August 2022 and since that date two significant
changes in the flood risk planning guidance and evidence have taken place.  The
Council may wish to consider whether these should have any bearing on this
application.
 
On the 25 August 2022 the NPPG on flood risk was refreshed, in part to keep up to date
with previous NPPF changes (2018 & 2021) and to clarify certain aspects of the advice. 
Paragraph 048 provides additional clarification on the need for Safe Access and Egress
and states “through off-site works that benefit the area more generally”.  This aligns with
the recommendation for a strategic solution on Safe access and egress that we have
been promoting.
 
Draft results of the 2022 flood modelling (included the impacts of the new flood scheme)
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became available in early August.  The results do alter the ‘Design Flood Level’ and the
minimum floor level and Flood Resilience level that was previously discussed with the
applicant.  The applicant was provided with these new levels on the 18 August 2022,
after the submission.  This new modelling shows that flood depths, with climate change
and the new flood scheme have actually risen, and the minimum residential floor level is
now 8.76mAOD (approx. 0.25m above the previous).  This level should also be
applicable to commercial development (which now has a 75 year lifetime of
development consideration, so consideration of levels in the year 2097).
 
Overcoming our objection 
The applicant can overcome our objection by undertaking an FRA which demonstrates
that the development is safe from flooding over its lifetime without increasing risk
elsewhere and where possible reduces flood risk overall.  If this cannot be achieved we
are likely to maintain our objection to the application.  Production of an FRA will not in
itself result in the removal of an objection.
 
To help facilitate an acceptable development, we would be happy to attend a joint
meeting with your Authority and the developers to discuss the feasibility of the provision
of a strategic safe access/egress route in this area, as well as to agree acceptable
levels for the proposed development, understanding any limitations for raising levels
above those currently proposed.   
 
If the applicant would like to discuss the FRA with us prior to formal resubmission to the
LPA, we can provide advice via our chargeable planning advice service.  The fee for
this service is £100 per hour plus VAT.  Please contact us at SPDC@ environment-
agency.gov.uk to request more information and a quote.  
 
Advice to the LPA
W e will maintain our objection until the applicant has supplied information to
demonstrate that the flood risks posed by the development can be satisfactorily
addressed.  W e would like to be re-consulted on any information submitted to address
our concerns and we will provide you with bespoke comments within 21 days of
receiving formal re-consultation.  
 
If you are minded to approve the application at this stage contrary to this advice, we
request that you contact us to allow further discussion and/or representations from us.   
 
Yours sincerely

SARAH SQUIRE
Sustainable Places - Planning Advisor
 
Direct dial 0208 474 6316
Direct e-mail SPDC@ environment-agency.gov.uk
 
cc Union4 Planning
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